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The National Association of Fundraising Ticket Manufacturers (NAFTM) is a trade association of 
companies that manufacture pull tabs, bingo paper, and related supplies for the North American 
charitable gaming industry.

The association keeps members informed of ever-changing product standards, gaming laws, 
regulations, and enforcement practices. The NAFTM Seal, when affixed to any gaming product, 
ensures its recipient of a product that meets or exceeds any state standard, as well as the standards 
established by the North American Gaming Regulators Association (NAGRA). NAFTM also works 
closely with charitable organizations and in cooperation with Allied Charities of Minnesota (ACM) 
has published Charity Gaming: An Association Guidebook available to charities interested in 
developing a charity gaming association in their state or province.

For more information, please visit our website at www.naftm.org
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Mission Statement



The National Association of Fundraising Ticket 
Manufacturers (NAFTM) is a trade association of 
companies that manufacture pull tabs, bingo paper 
and related equipment and supplies for the North 
American charitable gaming industry.

NAFTM was formed 30 years ago and while 
charitable gambling has changed during that time, 
the purpose and focus of our organization has 
stayed the same.  Our members are engaged in a 
business that for decades has created games and a 
form of entertainment that has contributed billions 
of dollars to strengthen families, local communities 
and charitable organizations across North America. 
Although comprising only a fraction of the overall 
gaming industry, charitable gambling provides 
direct benefits to virtually every corner of every 
state and province.

Last year alone, locally-administered charitable 
gambling – primarily pulltabs, bingo and raffles 
– contributed hundreds of millions of dollars to 
charitable causes and communities in the U.S. 
and Canada.  Local organizations – churches; 
fraternal organizations; Fire Relief Associations, 
organizations fighting diseases like multiple 
sclerosis and cystic fibrosis; schools; youth 
athletics; and a myriad of community groups – all 
raise money through charitable gambling to support 
local needs and local people. Charitable gambling 
also paid hundreds of millions of dollars in state 
and local taxes and fees.

NAFTM’s most important work continues to center on 
protecting the standards, practices and integrity of 
the industry. The NAFTM seal on a gambling product 
is an assurance that it meets or exceeds any state 
standard, as well as the standards established by 
the North American Gaming Regulators Association 
(NAGRA).

I want to take this opportunity to congratulate 
NAGRA on its 30th anniversary. NAGRA is an 
organization that annually brings together gaming 
regulatory agencies and provides a forum for the 
exchange of information and best practices.  NAGRA 
also provides on-going education and training for 
all of its members, and strives to develop important 
and uniform standards for legislation and rules 
concerning charitable gaming activities.

I also want to honor one of NAGRA’s past Presidents 
and our very own past President, Roger Franke 
of Arrow International on his recent retirement. 
Roger has worked tirelessly to promote charitable 
gambling, and the effective regulation of it, as both 
a regulator from Minnesota and later, as an industry 
representative. Please take time to view our tribute 
page to Roger included in this report.

We also work with legislators and regulators 
throughout North America advocating laws, 
rules, policies and procedures that support and 
improve charitable gaming and promote effective 
and fair regulation.

NAFTM is committed to remaining the most 
dependable, creditable and informed source of 
information as it relates to the charitable gaming 
industry. Thank you to all who submitted information 
for this report.  Without your assistance, the 
publication of this report—the only one of its kind 
in North American—would not be possible.  Your 
continued participation is greatly appreciated.	

		  Emile S. Bourgoyne, President

Letter from the President
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180 East Fifth St.
Suite 940
St. Paul MN 55101

p: 651.644.4710
f: 651.644.5904
www.NAFTM.org

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
FUNDRAISING TICKET MANUFACTURERS

naftm annual report 2013



In Appreciation
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ROGER FRANKE

Few people are more committed to charitable 
gambling than Roger Franke.  A stalwart of the 
industry for thirty years, Roger retired September 
30, 2014.  Throughout his career, Roger left his 
mark on charitable gambling, first in the State 
of Minnesota, and then across the country. 
Appointed the first director of the newly created 
Charitable Gambling Control Board in Minnesota 
in 1984, Roger shaped the agency into a highly 
functioning and effective regulatory body, which 
was tasked with overseeing the largest charitable 
gambling market in North America.  Roger quickly 
developed a national reputation as an effective and 
knowledgeable regulator of charitable gambling 
and in 1990, was elected by his peers as President 
of the North American Gaming Regulators 
Association (NAGRA).  In 1998 NAGRA honored 
him again as the first recipient of the NAGRA 
Distinguished Service Award.

When the Minnesota State Legislature created 
a new division within the Department of Public 
Safety to investigate criminal violations related 
to gambling, Roger was invited on board to train 
the newly hired investigators.  His insight and 
expertise helped investigators uncover several 
incidents of theft and fraud, many of which resulted 
in convictions.

In 1991, Roger left state service and took the 
position of Director of Government Affairs for 
Arrow International, a large charitable gambling 
manufacturer located in Cleveland, Ohio.  Roger 
traveled North America meeting with regulators, 
legislators and charitable organizations, offering 
his vast knowledge of the industry to further the 
adoption of reasonable and effective laws and 
rules.  Roger became a tireless and active member 
of NAFTM and in 2002 was elected President, a 
position he held for ten years.

Throughout his career, Roger wore many hats and 
touched many lives.  But he never lost sight of the 
fact that ultimately, charitable gambling exists to 
help people. Local people raising money for local 
programs; programs that make life better for all of 
us in every corner of every state and province.  There 
is no question that the charitable gambling industry 
is better today because of the many contributions 
of Roger Franke.  On behalf of NAFTM, we thank 
Roger for his unwavering commitment and wish 
him the very best in his retirement.

naftm annual report 2013



Established in 1983, the National Association 
of Fundraising Ticket Manufacturers is a trade 
association of manufacturers of pull tabs, bingo 
paper and other supplies used by charities in their 
fundraising activities.

The members of NAFTM are committed to the 
promotion of charitable gaming as a profitable 
endeavor for charities to raise funds for their 
important activities and missions. NAFTM is 
dedicated to the continued improvement of the 
charitable gaming industry through the use of 
manufacturing and trade practices that meet 
or exceed governmental regulations. Effective 
regulation of charitable gaming is necessary for 
the health of the charitable gaming industry, 
and NAFTM supports and encourages  effective 
government regulation.

NAFTM’s mission includes the gathering of 
statistical and other information about the industry 
in an effort to supply the public, regulators, 
legislators and other interested parties with the 
best possible picture of charitable gaming. The 
information is published in an annual report, and 
this 2013 report reflects the most recent information 

about the industry. The report should be a valuable 
tool for the many individuals and agencies that 
support efforts to improve charitable gaming in the 
United States and Canada.

Readers of the annual report will be able to 
find out how extensive charitable gaming is in 
the United States and Canada, and how much 
revenue is derived from the activity by charities. 
The number of licensees, taxation schemes, 
regulatory agency staffing, and law and regulation 
citations are contained in the report. The report 
contains a list of contacts for those who require 
additional detail or elaboration.

Report readers may contact NAFTM to discuss 
other matters relating to charitable gaming, as well 
as the contents of this report.

NAFTM is grateful to the many agencies and 
individuals who supplied statistics and other 
information for this report. Thank you for your 
assistance in our effort to publish the most 
comprehensive report on charitable gaming in 
North America.

Introduction
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American Games, Inc.
504 34th Ave.
Council Bluffs, IA 51501
712.366.9553
www.amgam.com

Arrow International, Inc.
9900 Clinton Rd.
Cleveland, OH 44144
800.321.0757
www.arrowinternational.com

Bingo King/Trade Products
2807 Lincoln Way
Lynnwood, WA 98087
425.745.3700 or 
800.527.3891
www.bingoking.com  

International Gamco, Inc.
9335 North 48th St.
Omaha, NE 68152 
800.524.2626
www.intlgamco.com

Mary Magnuson, Legal Counsel
180 East Fifth St. Suite 940
St. Paul, MN 55101
651.644.4710
651.644.5904 (fax)
www.NAFTM.org
                           

naftm annual report 2013

Complete game data not included in this report because (1) charity gaming is not permitted; (2) there is no central regulatory authority which collects data; 
(3) the activity is unregulated; or (4) they did not respond to the survey questionnaire.



OTHER TERMS USED IN THIS REPORT:

“Gross Receipts” is the total amount of money spent on a charity game by game 
participants. In a bingo game, it is the total amount wagered through the purchase 
of bingo cards. Pull tab games use the term to describe the total amount of 
money wagered through the purchase of the pull tabs in a game.

“Net Proceeds” is the amount of money left after the prizes and expenses have 
been paid. In most instances taxes and fees are paid from the net receipts. Thus, 
the balance would be the profit to the charity.

Terminology
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WHAT IS A PULL TAB?

Pull tabs are an integral part of the game of bingo and in other charitable fundraising efforts.

Officially, a “pull tab” is a folded or banded ticket, or a card with perforated tabs on one side, usually made 
of paper products, the face of which is covered or hidden to conceal numbers, symbols or letters. Some of 
the configurations of numbers, symbols or letters have been designated in advance as prize winners. Game 
participants open the tickets or perforated tabs and compare the configurations with game information 
sheets called “flares” to determine whether a particular ticket or pull tab is a winner.

The history of pull tabs is not nearly as extensive as that of bingo. Pull tabs emerged in the 1970s as a 
popular fundraising tool for charities and found easy acceptance in bingo games. They spread to other 
locations, such as fraternal clubs, service clubs and veterans’ organizations and in several states and 
provinces, into taverns.

By any other term, pull tabs are fun to play and have proved to be profitable for charities. They are also 
called break-open tickets, charity game cards, jar tickets, pickle cards, instant bingo cards, bell jars and 
lucky sevens in various regions in the United States and Canada.

WHAT IS BINGO?

“Bingo!” has become such a familiar term it extends beyond bingo hall doors into 
a phrase of excitement used around the world. Still the traditional way in which 
game participants express winning in a bingo game, it is also used to express 
surprise or sudden satisfaction.

The game itself has been around for centuries, its most recent origins being 
traced to 16th century Italy. Originally called “beano” in the nineteenth and early 
twentieth centuries, it became a short linguistic hop to term the game “bingo.” 
“Bingo” is now generally universally understood to describe a game in which 
participants compete against each other for prizes to be awarded on the basis 
of designated numbers or symbols on a bingo card that conform to numbers or 
symbols selected at random.

naftm annual report 2013



Games Played
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Licensees
COLORADO X X X X X X X 1,287

ILLINOIS X X X X X X X 1,459
INDIANA X X X X X X X X 3,078

KENTUCKY X X X X X X X X X 633
LOUISIANA X X X X X X X X 580

MASSACHUSETTS X X X X X 157
MICHIGAN X X X X X X X X 5,813

MINNESOTA X X X X X X X X 1,203
MISSISSIPPI X X X X X 80

MISSOURI X X X
REGULAR - 299; SPECIAL - 265;
PULL-TAB - 152

NEBRASKA X X X X 649
NEW HAMPSHIRE X X X X X 500

NEW YORK X X X X X X X 995
NORTH DAKOTA X X X X X X X 321

OREGON X X X X 581
PENNSYLVANIA X X X X X 7,472

SOUTH DAKOTA X X X N/A - NOT LICENSED

TEXAS X X X X X 1,462
VIRGINIA X X X X X X X 365

WASHINGTON X X X X X X X X 1100 - NP; 1079 - COMM.

MANITOBA X X X X 719
NOVA SCOTIA X X X X X 523

Province Licensees

naftm annual report 2013



Top 10 States
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MINNESOTA $1,151,748,000
TEXAS $719,612,130

WASHINGTON $515,376,574
INDIANA $454,726,767

KENTUCKY $366,364,592
NORTH DAKOTA $290,680,403

MICHIGAN $272,748,966
VIRGINIA $258,785,803

NEBRASKA $253,034,289
NEW YORK $248,835,748

State Total Gross Receipts

Top 10 States by Gross Receipts

MINNESOTA $203,626,000
INDIANA $67,520,676

MICHIGAN $50,781,402
KENTUCKY $42,772,590
NEW YORK $39,998,562
NEBRASKA $36,228,910

VIRGINIA $30,824,067
TEXAS $25,979,726

COLORADO $22,573,681
NORTH DAKOTA $21,368,777

State Total Net Receipts

Top 10 States by Net Receipts

naftm annual report 2013

Top ten based on available report statistics.



Receipts by Game
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COLORADO $42,855,191 $57,950,251 $14,810,778
ILLINOIS $37,640,000 $83,400,000 N/A
INDIANA $70,145,486 $339,121,941 $25,372,898

KENTUCKY $72,489,608 $270,626,692 $15,899,434
LOUISIANA $90,061,700 $92,395,900 $2,816,300

MASSACHUSETTS $33,000,000 $13,300,000 $19,700,000
MICHIGAN $76,342,157 $136,999,733 $59,407,076

MINNESOTA $64,748,000 $1,054,134,000 $8,312,000
MISSISSIPPI $67,764,733 $25,049,098 N/A

MISSOURI $50,244,214 $47,868,200 N/A
NEBRASKA $7,651,612 $26,170,367 $6,905,289

NEW HAMPSHIRE $17,100,000 $58,300,000 N/A
NEW YORK $22,216,503 $222,810,264 $3,427,507

NORTH DAKOTA $36,150,717 $155,199,741 $5,866,092
OREGON $26,189,503 N/A $7,540,446

PENNSYLVANIA N/A N/A N/A
SOUTH DAKOTA N/A N/A N/A

TEXAS $350,388,551 $369,223,579 N/A
VIRGINIA $99,971,607 $148,207,450 $10,606,746

WASHINGTON $33,257,238 $232,491,265 $8,531,971

MANITOBA $39,615,597 $3,487,267 $39,586,981
NOVA SCOTIA $47,455,000 N/A $34,997,000

State Bingo Gross Pull Tab Gross Raffles Gross

Province Bingo Gross Pull Tab Gross Raffles Gross

Explanation – Receipts by Games Table
This table will provide the reader with a breakdown on how much 
is wagered by state or province in bingo, pull tabs, raffles and 
other games sponsored by charities (“gross receipts”).
It will also identify the amount of money (“net proceeds”) 
charities will have derived from the play of those games during 
the reporting period for that jurisdiction, and which they may 
use for their programs. Finally, a calculation is made to show the 
percentage of net proceeds to gross receipts so the reader may 
make comparisons among the reporting jurisdictions.

Please Note: Canadian receipts are reported in Canadian dollars.



Receipts by Game
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COLORADO N/A $115,616,220 $22,573,681 20%
ILLINOIS $7,240,000 $128,280,000 N/A N/A
INDIANA $20,086,442 $454,726,767 $67,520,676 15%

KENTUCKY $7,348,858 $366,364,592 $42,772,590 12%
LOUISIANA $15,832,700 $201,106,600 $18,851,400 9%

MASSACHUSETTS $431,000 $66,431,000 $17,424,124 26%
MICHIGAN N/A $272,748,966 $50,781,402 19%

MINNESOTA $24,554,000 $1,151,748,000 $203,626,000 18%
MISSISSIPPI $564,708 $93,378,539 N/A N/A

MISSOURI N/A $98,112,414 $9,712,459 10%
NEBRASKA $212,306,935 $253,034,203 $219,977,065 87%

NEW HAMPSHIRE $75,600,000 $151,000,000 $13,100,000 9%
NEW YORK $381,474 $248,835,748 $39,998,562 16%

NORTH DAKOTA $93,463,853 $290,680,403 $21,368,777 7%
OREGON $436,663 $34,166,612 $7,776,309 23%

PENNSYLVANIA N/A N/A N/A N/A
SOUTH DAKOTA N/A N/A N/A N/A

TEXAS N/A $719,612,130 $25,979,726 4%
VIRGINIA N/A $258,785,803 $30,824,067 12%

WASHINGTON $241,096,100 $515,376,574 N/A N/A

MANITOBA $97,709,200 $180,399,045 $17,711,778 10%
NOVA SCOTIA $97,709,200 $82,452,000 $21,547,000 26%

State Other Gross
Total Gross 
Receipts

Total Net 
Proceeds

% Net Proceeds/
Gross Receipts

Province Other Gross
Total Gross 
Receipts

Total Net 
Proceeds

% Net Proceeds/
Gross Receipts

naftm annual report 2013



 

 

Fees and Taxes
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COLORADO $192,100 $312,256 N/A $504,356
ILLINOIS $766,000 $0 $5,651,000 $6,417,000
INDIANA $4,031,300 $0 N/A $4,031,300

KENTUCKY $268,724 $2,846,389 $0 $3,115,113
LOUISIANA $211,300 $0 $1,890,400 $2,101,700

MASSACHUSETTS $7,050 $0 $2,670,143 $2,677,193
MICHIGAN $1,858,231 $0 $0 $1,858,231

MINNESOTA $1,607,500 $1,193,500 $36,164,000 $38,965,000

MISSISSIPPI $1,479,767 $1,479,767 $0 $2,959,534
MISSOURI $39,580 $0 $2,000,965 $2,040,545

NEBRASKA $159,885 $0 $5,247,704 $5,407,589
NEW HAMPSHIRE $352,115 $2,372,305 $574,510 $3,298,930

NEW YORK $2,019,855 $214,374 $0 $2,234,229
NORTH DAKOTA $112,150 $0 $5,357,689 $5,469,839

OREGON $50,020 $394,312 $0 $444,332
PENNSYLVANIA $268,000 $0 N/A $268,000

SOUTH DAKOTA $30,000 $0 $19,905 $49,905
TEXAS $3,219,980 $0 $28,725,713 $31,945,693

VIRGINIA $85,800 $2,482,691 N/A $2,568,491
WASHINGTON $12,523,901 $0 $29,233,414 $41,757,315

MANITOBA $1,202,695 $0 $0 $1,202,695
NOVA SCOTIA $0 $0 $0 $0

State License Fees Admin. Fees Taxes Total

License Fees Admin. Fees Taxes TotalProvince

naftm annual report 2013

Explanation – Fees and Taxes
States and provinces use widely varying methods to assess fees 
and taxes for the costs of government to regulate charitable gaming 
and other government programs. The term "fee" is not only used 
to describe the amount of money charities and suppliers pay for a 
license to engage in charitable gaming activities, it is also used to 
encompass "administrative fees" calculated in some jurisdictions 
as a percentage of various amounts, much like a "tax." The widely 
varying practices have led to confusion in attempting to calculate 
meaningful comparisons. Reporting jurisdictions react differently 
when confronted with questions pertaining to "fees." 



 
 

Reporting Periods
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State Date
COLORADO N/A

ILLINOIS 07/01/2013 - 06/30/2014
INDIANA 07/01/2012 - 06/30/2013

KENTUCKY N/A
LOUISIANA 07/01/2012 - 06/30/2013

MASSACHUSETTS N/A
MICHIGAN 10/01/2012 - 09/30/2013

MINNESOTA 07/01/2012 - 06/30/2013
MISSISSIPPI 07/01/2012 - 06/30/2013

MISSOURI 07/01/2012 - 06/30/2013
NEBRASKA 10/01/2012 - 06/30/2013

NEW HAMPSHIRE 07/01/2012 - 06/30/2013
NEW YORK N/A

NORTH DAKOTA 07/01/2012 - 06/30/2013
OREGON N/A

PENNSYLVANIA N/A
SOUTH DAKOTA 07/01/2012 - 06/30/2013

TEXAS 09/01/2012 - 08/31/2013
VIRGINIA N/A

WASHINGTON 07/01/2012 - 06/30/2013

MANITOBA 04/01/2013 - 03/31/2014
NOVA SCOTIA 04/01/2013 - 03/31/2014

Province Date

naftm annual report 2013



Taxation and Admin. Fees Methods
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COLORADO N/A
ILLINOIS 5% of gross proceeds
INDIANA N/A

KENTUCKY N/A

LOUISIANA
5% of the sale price of supplies (bingo paper, etc) plus 8% on the sale price of paperless electronic 
bingo dabber devices

MASSACHUSETTS 5% of gross
MICHIGAN N/A

MINNESOTA Paper bingo: 8.5% of net; Electronic linked bingo: combined net receipts (progressive) tax
MISSISSIPPI N/A

MISSOURI 2/10 of one cent per bingo face
NEBRASKA 3%

NEW HAMPSHIRE N/A
NEW YORK N/A

NORTH DAKOTA

Not exceeding five hundred thousand dollars is one percent of gross proceeds, exceeding five 
hundred thousand dollars but not exceeding one million dollars is one and one-half percent of 
gross proceeds, exceeding one million dollars but not exceeding one million five hundred thousand 
dollars is two percent of gross proceeds, exceeding one million five hundred thousand dollars is 
two and one-half percent of gross proceeds

OREGON N/A
PENNSYLVANIA N/A

SOUTH DAKOTA 5%
TEXAS 5% of Prize

VIRGINIA N/A
WASHINGTON 5% of gross less prizes

MANITOBA $1,202,695
NOVA SCOTIA N/A

COLORADO N/A N/A
ILLINOIS 5% of gross proceeds 5% of net proceeds
INDIANA N/A N/A

KENTUCKY N/A N/A

LOUISIANA
3% on the ideal net proceeds of pull tabs deals (note: 
Ideal net proceeds = net profit of deal – sale price)

$600 per EVB machine

MASSACHUSETTS N/A 5% of gross
MICHIGAN 40% of Net Profit from each deal. na

MINNESOTA Combined net receipts (progressive) tax 8.5% of net
MISSISSIPPI N/A

MISSOURI
2% of the gross receipts of the retail sales value 
charged for each pull-tab card sold

N/A

NEBRASKA 10% of gross proceeds less prizes 2%
NEW HAMPSHIRE N/A N/A

NEW YORK N/A N/A
NORTH DAKOTA Same as Bingo Same as Bingo

OREGON N/A N/A
PENNSYLVANIA N/A N/A

SOUTH DAKOTA 5% 5%

TEXAS
5% of Prize (amount included in bingo) 3% of gross rental received by a licensed 

commercial lessor
VIRGINIA N/A N/A

WASHINGTON
N/P $10% of gross less prizes; comm. 5% of gross 
receipts

5% of net receipts over $10,000 and card 
rooms 20% of gross receipts

MANITOBA $0 $0
NOVA SCOTIA N/A N/A

State

State

Bingo Method of Taxation/Fees

Pull Tab Method of Taxation/Fees Raffles/Other Method of Taxation/Fees

Province Bingo Method of Taxation/Fees

Province Pull Tab Method of Taxation/Fees Raffles/Other Method of Taxation/Fees

naftm annual report 2013



Staffing Budget: Source of Budget
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COLORADO 4 $360,000 Administrative/regulatory fees, Licensing fees

ILLINOIS 5 N/A Legislative appropriation, Licensing fees

INDIANA 18 $1,765,770 Licensing fees, Other

KENTUCKY 34 $3,547,633 Administrative/regulatory fees, Licensing fees, Other

LOUISIANA 20 $2,101,700 Administrative/regulatory fees, Licensing fees

MASSACHUSETTS N/A $668,142 Other

MICHIGAN 18 $8,939,354 Administrative/regulatory fees, Licensing fees

MINNESOTA 33 $2,677,000 Administrative/regulatory fees

MISSISSIPPI 12 $1,500,000 Administrative/regulatory fees, Licensing fees, Other

MISSOURI 4 N/A Administrative/regulatory fees, Licensing fees

NEBRASKA 12 $2,100,000 Administrative/regulatory fees, Licensing fees

NEW HAMPSHIRE N/A $1,058,972 Administrative/regulatory fees, Licensing fees

NEW YORK 7 $1,600,000 Licensing fees

NORTH DAKOTA 15 $1,261,000 Legislative appropriation

OREGON 4.65 $398,502 Administrative/regulatory fees, Licensing fees

PENNSYLVANIA 2 N/A N/A

SOUTH DAKOTA N/A N/A N/A

TEXAS 33 $3,408,993 Legislative appropriation

VIRGINIA 18 $1,470,596 Legislative appropriation

WASHINGTON 143 $13,971,746 Licensing fees, Other

MANITOBA N/A N/A Legislative appropriation

NOVA SCOTIA N/A N/A Licensing fees

State

Province

Total 
Staff

Agency
Budget Source of Agency Budget

Total 
Staff

Agency
Budget Source of Agency Budget

naftm annual report 2013
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Legal Authority

COLORADO Title 12, Article 9 Colorado Revised Statutes

ILLINOIS •230 ILCS 25/1 to 25/7,  •230 ILCS 30/1 to 30/15,  •230 ILCS 20/1 to 20/7.3

INDIANA Indiana Code 4-32.2 and Indiana Administrative Code Title 68, Article 21

KENTUCKY KRS Chapter 238 & KAR Title 820

LOUISIANA Louisiana Revised Statutes Title 4, Section 701 et seq. and Louisiana Administra-
tive Code Title 42:I:1701 et seq.

MASSACHUSETTS Chapter 10, sec. 37 & 38 (bingo); Ch. 271 (raffles)

MICHIGAN Act 382 of the Public Acts of 1972, as amended

MINNESOTA Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 349; Minnesota Rules, Chapters 7861-7865

MISSISSIPPI 97-33-50-203

MISSOURI Constitution of Missouri Article III Section 39(a), Revised Statutes Chapter 313, 
Dept. of Public Safety Division 45 Chapter 30

NEBRASKA N/A

NEW HAMPSHIRE RSA 287-D and 287-E

NEW YORK New York General Municipal Law - Article 9B and Article 14H, New York Executive 
Law Article 19B and Title 9E New York Code Rules and Regulations, Chapter II.

NORTH DAKOTA Chapter 53-06.1 of the North Dakota Century Code and North Dakota Administra-
tive Code 99-01.3

OREGON OAR 137 Division 25; ORS Chapter 167; ORS Chapter 464

PENNSYLVANIA no change

SOUTH DAKOTA South Dakota Codified Law 22-25

TEXAS TX Const.-Art III, Sec 47 Lotteries & gift ent, Bingo Games Tex Occ. Code Chapter 
2001 16 Tex Adm. Code Ch. 402

VIRGINIA 18.2-340.16 of the Code of Virginia; Virginia Administrative Code Title 11, Chapter 
40

WASHINGTON RCW 9.46; WAC 230

MANITOBA N/A

NOVA SCOTIA Gaming Control Act

State Statutory Authority

Statutory AuthorityProvince
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Survey Participants
Colorado
Scott Gessler - Colorado Secretary of State
1700 Broadway Ste 200/Denver/CO/80290
303-894-2200
www.sos.state.co.us

Illinois
Brian Hamer - Illinois Department of Revenue Director
Illinois Department of Revenue
101 West Jefferson Street/PO Box 19480/Springfield/IL 62794
217 785-5864
www.tax,illinois.gov

Indiana
Ernest Yelton - Executive Director
Indiana Gaming Commission
101 W Washington St Suite 1600 East Tower/Indianapolis/IN  46204
317-233-0046
www.in.gov/igc

Kentucky
Marty Hammons - Commissioner
Department of Charitable Gaming
132 Brighton Park Blvd/Frankfort/KY 40601
502-573-5528
www.dcg.ky.gov

Louisiana
Michael E. Legendre - Director
Louisiana Department of Revenue
Office of Charitable Gaming/PO Box 98502/Baton Rouge/LA 70884
(225) 925-1835
www.ocg.louisiana.gov

Massachusetts
Beth Bresnahan - Director
Massachusetts State Lottery
60 Columbian St/Braintree/MA  02184
781-849-5555
webmaster@masslottery.com

Michigan
Kathie Oviedo - Deputy Commissioner of Charitable Gaming
Charitable Gaming Division
101 E. Hillsdale/Lansing/MI  48909
517-335-5780
www.michigan.gov/cg

Minnesota
Tom Barrett - Executive Director
Minnesota Gambling Control Board
1711 W. County Rd. B/Suite 300 South/Roseville/MN 55113
651-539-1900
www.mn.gov/gcb

Missouri
Barbara Whittle - Charitable Games Supervisor
Missouri Gaming Commission
P.O. Box 1847/Jefferson City/MO 65102

Mississippi
Sonny Weathersby - Ms. Charitable Gaming
620 North Street/Jackson/MS 39202
601-576-3800
mgc.state.ms.us

Nebraska
Jim Haynes, Director 
Department of Revenue
Nebraska Charitable Gaming
1800 O Street/Lincoln/NE 68509
402-471-5937
www.revenue.nebraska.gov/gaming

New Hampshire
Paul Kelly
New Hampshire Racing and Charitable Gaming Commission
57 Regional Drive Unit 3/Concord/NH  03301-8518
603-271-2158
www.racing.nh.gov

New York
Stacy Harvey - Assistant Counsel and Acting Director
New York State Gaming Commission - Division of Charitable Gaming
1 Broadwary Center PO Box  7500/Schenectad/NY 12301
(518) 388-3300
www.gaming.ny.gov

North Dakota
Deborah McDaniel - Director of Gaming
Office of Attorney General, North Dakota
600 E Boulevard Ave Dept 125/Bismarck/ND  58505
(701) 328-4848
www.ag.nd.gov

Oregon
Elizabeth Grant - Attorney-in-Charge
Oregon Department of Justice, Charitable Activities Section
1515SW 5th Ave Suite 410/Portland/OR  97201
971-673-1880
www.doj.state.or.us/charigroup

Pennsylvania
Tim Young - Director
PA Department Of Revenue, Strawberry Square
4th & Walnut/Harrisburg/PA 17128
717-787-8275
www.revenue.state.pa.us

South Dakota
Michael Houdyshell - Director, Prooperty & Special Tax Division
South Dakota Department of Revenue
Special Tax Division 445 E Capitol Ave/Pierre/SD 57501
605-773-3311

Texas
Alfonso D. Royal III - Director
Texas Lottery Commission-Charitable Bingo Operations Division
Charitable Bingo Operations Division, Texas Lottery Commission
P. O. Box 16630/Austin/Texas/78761-6630
512-344-5155
txbingo.org

Virginia
Michael Menefee, Program Manager
Virginia Department of Agriculture & Consumer
Services, Division of Consumer Protection, 
Office of Charitable & Regulatory Programs
(804) 371-0495
www.vdacs.virginia.gov

Washington
Dave Trujillo
Washington State Gambling Commission
P.O. Box 42400/Olympia/WA  98504-2400
360-486-3440
www.wsgc.wa.gov
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Nova Scotia
Joe Baltzer
Alcohol & Gaming Division
P.O. Box 545
Dartmouth, Nova Scotia B2Y 3Y8
902-424-6160
www.novascotia.ca/snsmr/access/alcohol-gaming

Manitoba
Rick Josephson
Liquor & Gaming Authority of Manitoba
800-215 Garry Street
1-800-782-0363
www.lgamanitoba.ca


